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          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Good afternoon.

          3  This is the hearing of the Consumer Affairs

          4  Committee. We are going to be discussing Intro. No.

          5  28 this morning -- this afternoon. This is a bill

          6  that was before the Council in this last term. It

          7  was passed, this is part of the bill that was

          8  introduced in the last Council and was passed, and

          9  vetoed by our former Mayor, and the Council, who

         10  decided to, not necessarily agree with the veto, but

         11  to take an opportunity to review this, so the veto

         12  stood and now we're back with the first half of this

         13  bill so we can have a dialogue about that.

         14                 I want to introduce my colleagues. To

         15  my right, to my left, actually, from a seating

         16  standpoint, is Council Member Barron in Brooklyn,

         17  Council Member Felder in Brooklyn, Council Member

         18  Liu from Queens, Council Member Davis from Brooklyn.

         19  This district, this thing is a little bit skewed

         20  over here, isn't it? And Council Member Sanders from

         21  Queens. David Szuchman, am I saying that right? Is

         22  the Committee's new Counsel. You all should get to

         23  know him and others of the staff who have been

         24  introduced before.

         25                 Today the Committee on Consumer

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            4

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  Affairs will hold a hearing on Intro. No. 28, a

          3  proposal to amend the subchapter 7 of Chapter 2 of

          4  Title 20 of the Administrative Code, which licenses

          5  sidewalk stands, including newsstands.

          6                 This proposal would increase the

          7  maximum selling price for non-print items at

          8  newsstands from $2 to $5, allow prepaid

          9  telecommunication and transit cards to be sold, and

         10  prohibit the sale of certain items at any price.

         11                 The Committee has invited

         12  representatives from the Department of Consumer

         13  Affairs and the newsstand industry to address this

         14  proposal.

         15                 In December of 2001, the Council

         16  passed legislation that increased the maximum

         17  selling price for items sold at newsstands, and

         18  permitted corporate ownership of newsstand licenses.

         19  Former Mayor Giuliani vetoed Intro. 968, citing

         20  concerns regarding the licensing scheme of the

         21  legislation.

         22                 However, all parties who testified

         23  before the Committee agreed that an adjustment of

         24  the price cap for non-print items was warranted.

         25                 This legislation before the Committee
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          2  today solely addresses the need for an increase in

          3  the price cap. The issues of transferability and

          4  ownership is not included in this bill, but I will

          5  tell you this will be taken up in fairly short

          6  order. So, I welcome those who have just arrived,

          7  and if you want to testify, you should fill out the

          8  forms that I believe we have in the back there.

          9  Please fill those out and then we will have them

         10  here and call you in order that we receive them.

         11                 We are honored today by the presence

         12  of our Commissioner, Gretchen Dykstra, who stopped

         13  by at our first hearing to say hello, she wasn't

         14  formally on the job. She's official now, so,

         15  Commissioner, would you like to join us?

         16                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Thank you,

         17  Chairman. Congratulations to you and your

         18  colleagues, and I appreciate my first opportunity to

         19  appear before you on this Intro. 28, about the price

         20  of goods that can be sold at sidewalk newsstands.

         21                 The Department of Consumer Affairs

         22  licenses newsstands, we have at the moment 304 of

         23  them. They can occupy up to 72 square feet, and

         24  they're found throughout the City but primarily in

         25  Manhattan. For your curiosity, they pay $1,076 for a
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          2  license that lasts for two years. We both license

          3  them and then we enforce the regulations.

          4                 The bill before you would revise the

          5  requirements governing the sale of goods, other than

          6  printed matter, by raising the maximum price of such

          7  other goods from $2 to $5, not counting tax,

          8  exempting prepaid telecommunication or transit cards

          9  from the price cap, thereby allowing them to charge

         10  more, and barring the sale of apparel, jewelry, hair

         11  ornaments, handbags and video cassettes.

         12                 The law now limits to $2 excluding

         13  the tax, the price of goods, other than printed

         14  matter, and there are now no other restrictions on

         15  such other goods that could be sold at newsstands,

         16  which I can parenthetically, from my previous life

         17  in Times Square was always a headache. So, this bill

         18  is a great, I think, improvement over what we had.

         19  These requirements have been in place since 1979.

         20                 Increasing the price for such goods

         21  to $5 is an appropriate adjustment of the maximum

         22  sale price in the judgment of the Department of

         23  Consumer Affairs. This increase in the price cap

         24  comes with the new limitation that would bar the

         25  sale of certain types of goods, such as handbags and

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            7

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  jewelry. So, this new limitation ensures that

          3  increasing the price cap will not encourage the sale

          4  of items that would essentially transform newsstands

          5  into general sidewalk vendors. That was never what

          6  they were intended to be.

          7                 Exempting prepaid telecommunication

          8  or transit cards from the price cap seems

          9  reasonable. Exempting them from the price makes it

         10  possible to sell the most economic versions of such

         11  cards from newsstands.

         12                 It makes available a convenient

         13  alternative place where commuters can purchase fee

         14  cards, and the cards can be unobtrusive devices that

         15  would not detract from the appearance of the

         16  newsstands.

         17                 All in all, the bill strikes us as a

         18  reasonable balance between raising the price cap and

         19  preventing the sale of merchandise the cap would

         20  allow, but which would transform newsstands into

         21  general vendors.

         22                 So, thanks for the opportunity and we

         23  support the bill. And it's nice to see Rob Bookman,

         24  by the way, who often I often dueled with in Times

         25  Square, a former distinguished employee of the
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          2  Department of Consumer Affairs, and I look forward

          3  to learning from him yet again.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. Thank

          5  you for your testimony.

          6                 Are there questions? Council Member

          7  Sanders.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Good

          9  afternoon. Yes, it's afternoon. Good afternoon. Good

         10  to see you again.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Hi.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: In light of

         13  the City may raise the taxes on cigarettes, are we

         14  raising this price enough? Is $5 sufficient?

         15                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: It excludes

         16  taxes. So, it wouldn't have any impact on that.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you.

         18  I'm the easy one.

         19                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Okay.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: It excludes taxes

         21  on all the items.

         22                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: On all the

         23  items.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So it's the base

         25  price, right?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Yes, exactly.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Council Member

          4  Davis.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: First of all,

          6  good afternoon. You said the newsstand pays 1,200 --

          7                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: No, $1,076 for

          8  a license that lasts for two years.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Now, once we --

         10  well, is there a possibility that there's going to

         11  be an increase in their, what they're paying, the

         12  $1,700 for their license?

         13                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: $1,076. What an

         14  interesting question.

         15                 MR. EILER: The two are not really

         16  connected. The two are not really connected because

         17  the cost of the license, as the State law provides,

         18  has to be the cost of enforcement, so in order to

         19  change the license fee, you would have to look at

         20  whether it is warranted by the cost of enforcement,

         21  by the cost of the administration of the license.

         22                 So, the prices at which they can sell

         23  is not --

         24                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: It's not

         25  contingent, but I think the question of some of the
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          2  problems around newsstands, including maintenance,

          3  is an interesting one, and we should be taking a

          4  look at that, and whether or not there is any

          5  correlation between enforcement and maintenance and

          6  the license fee.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Excuse us for just

          8  a second.

          9                 Andy, would you identify yourself in

         10  the microphone just for the record.

         11                 MR. EILER: My name is Andrew Eiler,

         12  I'm the Chief Research Analyst for the Department of

         13  Consumer Affairs.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         15                 Council Member Davis, all right?

         16                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: May I also say,

         17  Andy was once head of the Michigan Council of

         18  Consumer Affairs, he's an old consumer advocate

         19  himself.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Other Council

         21  members?

         22                 Thank you very much for your

         23  testimony.

         24                 COMMISSIONER DYKSTRA: Thanks.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Council Member
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          2  Davis, that may be an issue that we take up, the

          3  issue that you raised about the fee in the second

          4  portion of this, that we're going to discuss in the

          5  next couple of weeks about franchising, and it

          6  actually might be a good question to take a look at.

          7                 Rob Bookman.

          8                 Would you start by identifying

          9  yourself for the record, please?

         10                 MR. BOOKMAN: Certainly, Mr. Chairman.

         11                 My name is Robert Bookman, I am

         12  Counsel to the New York City Newsstand Operators

         13  Association, which is a trade group that represents

         14  the City sidewalk newsstand owners.

         15                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and members

         16  of the Committee, for the opportunity to be here

         17  today to express our industry's strong support for

         18  Intro. 28.

         19                 Unfortunately, this is an industry

         20  that is a small remnant of what it once was, and it

         21  is an industry facing hard economic times, and once

         22  again, we need your help to ensure its survival.

         23                 Forty years ago there were 1,580

         24  sidewalk newsstands. Today, as you heard the

         25  Commissioner state, there are actually 304, I
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          2  believe actually since 9/11 the number that are open

          3  and operating didn't drop below 300, which would be

          4  a historic low number of newsstands.

          5                 In 1979, the City Council, in an

          6  attempt to stem the tide in newsstand decline,

          7  passed a wide ranging bill to help ensure the

          8  profitability of newsstands.

          9                 It helped for awhile, and the numbers

         10  actually increased in the early 1990s, but,

         11  unfortunately, the old trends started again and we

         12  are now down 25 percent from the 398 newsstands that

         13  were in existence in 1979. And equally disturbing,

         14  there is an all-time low in the number of

         15  applications now pending at the Department of

         16  Consumer Affairs where individuals waiting to go

         17  into the newsstand business, or wishing to build a

         18  new newsstand. So, together we have an historic low

         19  number of open newsstands, and an historic low

         20  number of applications to build new newsstands.

         21                 This bill is needed to help once

         22  again stem that tide in newsstand decline by making

         23  the operation of sidewalk newsstands more profitable

         24  and more attractive as a business opportunity.

         25                 While this is a modest Intro, it
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          2  takes a positive step in the right direction.

          3                 It increases the $2 limit on

          4  merchandise that can be sold. This $2 limit was

          5  adopted 22 years ago, in that 1979 Council newsstand

          6  relief effort.

          7                 The Council doubled the then $1

          8  limit, in an attempt to make the operation of

          9  newsstands more profitable, and the Council promised

         10  to review the $2 limit within a year. Unfortunately,

         11  it never did.

         12                 Clearly, traditional newsstand

         13  staples, such as film and batteries, which cost $2

         14  in 1979, can no longer be offered for sale, adding

         15  to the difficulty of making a living wage.

         16                 This bill will bring back these

         17  newsstand staples, while eliminating at any price

         18  nontraditional newsstand items, such as costume

         19  jewelry, which operators were frankly forced to

         20  carry to make a living simply because for years

         21  nothing else we could sell costs less than $2.

         22                 The requirement that newsstands

         23  devote the majority of display space to printed

         24  material has also not changed, and we think that is

         25  also -- is a good recommendation.
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          2                 This Intro, as stated by the

          3  Chairman, was part of Intro. 968, passed

          4  overwhelmingly by the Council just in December.

          5                 Unfortunately, the Mayor, in his last

          6  official act on December 30th vetoed this bill, and

          7  we believe timed the veto so that an override vote

          8  could not be scheduled.

          9                 That Intro corrected, in addition to

         10  this, a language problem so as to conform newsstands

         11  to all other laws and make newsstand businesses that

         12  people are not afraid of owning.

         13                 The ownership of newsstands must

         14  remain in the hands of small mom and pop

         15  entrepreneurs, often recent immigrants' first

         16  business. And the 30-year-old limit on two

         17  newsstands per person should also remain. But what

         18  that bill did was to give sidewalk newsstand

         19  operators the same legal rights that every other

         20  commercial business on the public sidewalks enjoy.

         21  It would have ended decades of discrimination

         22  against newsstands by allowing the license to be in

         23  the name of a partnership or small corporation.

         24                 While that portion of the bill is not

         25  being discussed today, we look forward to working
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          2  with the Committee, and with the Administration, and

          3  with the Commissioner Dykstra to address that

          4  inequality in the law.

          5                 This language was actually drafted by

          6  the previous Administration and Council staff

          7  together in 1997, and was passed by the City Council

          8  word for word. It was actually the law for one year,

          9  it had to be repealed, as part of the repeal of the

         10  coordinated Street Furniture Project. So, if

         11  anything, the $5 figure before you today is already

         12  five years old, and is really a minimum, you know,

         13  of what we should be doing today.

         14                 But this intro does contain a

         15  positive change to help a small by historically

         16  important industry. It was sound public policy when

         17  you passed it in 1997, and last year, it remained

         18  sound public policy today. I'm very pleased that the

         19  Administration is supporting it, and we hope that

         20  the Council will as well.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you for your

         23  testimony.

         24                 (Applause.)

         25                 MR. BOOKMAN: That is some of the
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          2  newsstand operators, either that or it's my mother,

          3  one or the other, who just applauded. I guess it's

          4  some of the newsstand operators who are here today,

          5  to show you their interest in how important even

          6  this small step is to their businesses.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: In your testimony,

          8  Mr. Bookman, you said something about today there

          9  are less than 300, so we were down 25 percent from

         10  three -- the math was getting a little too

         11  complicated while I was paying attention. You are

         12  saying there are less than 300 newsstands now?

         13                 MR. BOOKMAN: Correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And you're

         15  attributing this decline primarily to this price

         16  problem concern, or price threshold, or --

         17                 MR. BOOKMAN: No, I think that's part

         18  of the problem. I think it's a much larger problem.

         19  I would not be honest if I didn't say part of the

         20  reason for the decline in the number of newsstands

         21  is a decline in the number of newspaper sales

         22  historically.

         23                 Certainly, back when there were over

         24  1,500 newsstands in New York City, there were

         25  probably nine or ten dailies. So, unfortunately,
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          2  people aren't reading as much, that clearly has

          3  something to do with it.

          4                 But nevertheless, there are

          5  regulatory issues which you do have control over,

          6  which have continued to make newsstand business not

          7  attractive as a business, and where once upon a time

          8  it was kind of like a handout to blind and

          9  handicapped and disabled veterans, thank God those

         10  people have other opportunities in society today,

         11  and in order to attract and maintain it, operating

         12  sidewalk newsstands, it must stand on its own as an

         13  attractive business. And the regulatory framework,

         14  in our opinion, does not encourage people to go into

         15  the business. And those are the other issues which

         16  we would like to eventually work with you and the

         17  Administration on.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Any of my

         19  colleagues?

         20                 Council Member Barron.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Mr. Chairman,

         22  I just want to say that this is a timely issue, and

         23  I certainly thank you for raising it, and bringing

         24  it to our attention and having us have the

         25  opportunity to hear testimony on it, and to vote on
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          2  the Intro.

          3                 You said this is a modest approach.

          4  What would be the approach that you would think

          5  would be most appropriate, and secondly, is there

          6  any opposition from anyone in terms of this Intro,

          7  in the raising of the price, and who would that be?

          8                 MR. BOOKMAN: I don't think there's

          9  any opposition concerning this intro, certainly none

         10  that I'm aware of.

         11                 I think this is one band-aid help

         12  that we could give to an industry that is in

         13  desperate shape, that I think everybody could agree

         14  to. It does reach a good compromise by increasing

         15  the price limit on merchandise, while getting rid of

         16  certain types of merchandise. We don't want to see

         17  newsstands go back to where it was at a certain

         18  point of the eighties, where they looked like

         19  merchandise, general vendor kiosks. I think the

         20  association, which is in existence for 15 years, has

         21  helped clean up the industry dramatically. I think

         22  even the Commissioner's old Times Square District

         23  where it was the worst has been improved

         24  dramatically.

         25                 But are there oppositions to
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          2  newsstands? There always have been opposition to

          3  newsstands. There are powerful oppositions to

          4  sidewalk newsstands in the real estate industry,

          5  some of it, criticisms that are well justified, such

          6  as how newsstands look and how well they are

          7  maintained, and some of which are not justified,

          8  that if they can't control the commercial activity

          9  on the public sidewalk, they would rather not be

         10  there.

         11                 But it is an industry that was always

         12  operated by the have-nots of New York, and those

         13  have-nots once upon a time were blind individuals

         14  and disabled veterans, today they are recent

         15  immigrants, generally from Councilman Liu's district

         16  and others, you know, from the Indian subcontinent,

         17  and it's often a first level entrepreneurial type of

         18  experience.  It's a business where you don't need a

         19  lot of experience to be able to operate one

         20  decently, although the amount of money required to

         21  to get into one has become increasingly expensive,

         22  due to regulatory requirements over the years.

         23                 In answer to your question, I think

         24  the other part of the intro that was passed by the

         25  Council last year is ultimately what we need, so
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          2  that this industry will stand on its own as an

          3  attractive business. I think people need, the

          4  existing 300 people need to be able to have a

          5  partner legally so that they don't have an

          6  underground, you know, handshake partnerships which

          7  exist today, they need to be able to form a small

          8  mom and pop corporation so they can have the same

          9  legal protections that a corporate structure

         10  provides, every other commercial use of the public

         11  sidewalk, whether it be a fruit and vegetable stand

         12  or a telephone, which some people argue we may not

         13  need as many on the sidewalks, we seem to have a

         14  huge increase in the number of those, and by having

         15  those structures, it's a business that they could

         16  pass along to somebody, to their partner, to someone

         17  else.

         18                 So, we think that's the ultimate, you

         19  know, help that we need, and there was some

         20  opposition in the prior Administration to that. I

         21  don't know if there's opposition to that in the new

         22  Administration, but we will sit down with

         23  Commissioner Dykstra and discuss it, and I know her

         24  to be extremely reasonable, and if we can come to an

         25  agreement on that, we'll come back to the Council

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            21

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  with that compromised language.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Any other

          4  questions?

          5                 Council Member Sanders.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: To follow up

          7  on the very worthy Councilman Barron's point, how

          8  much money is enough money? Five dollars is five

          9  years old; what is enough money?

         10                 MR. BOOKMAN: Well, since you asked, I

         11  think probably to account for the difference between

         12  what has happened, you know, in cost, between 1979

         13  when that figure was chosen, and today I think

         14  probably $7.50 would be more accurate. There are

         15  already some items that we would have like to have

         16  sold in 1997, such as those disposable cameras which

         17  already cost more than $5 today, they did then, so

         18  we're already priced out of some items that were

         19  contemplated back in 1997. But, you know, we need

         20  help now, and if changing that number would delay

         21  this process, then please pass the number that's in

         22  the Intro now, and hopefully before the year is out

         23  we'll have some other newsstand legislation to

         24  discuss.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Council Member
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          2  Davis.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: I'm curious,

          4  what is the annual income of an owner of a

          5  newsstand?

          6                 MR. BOOKMAN: Well, obviously it will

          7  vary from location to location. There are still of

          8  the 300 remaining some, you know, very good

          9  locations out there, and I think increasingly more

         10  of the locations are mediocre.

         11                 From what my clients tell me, and I'm

         12  not an auditor, I'm their attorney, after all

         13  expenses, employee wages, you know, regulatory fees,

         14  you know, et cetera, are paid, that the average

         15  newsstand operator is probably making somewhere, 20,

         16  $25,000 a year, personal income.

         17                 At a very good location, they're

         18  probably making more than that.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: How much more

         20  about? A hundred thousand?

         21                 MR. BOOKMAN: No, no, no. No, none.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: There's no

         23  ceiling on more.

         24                 MR. BOOKMAN: I'd be guessing. I'd say

         25  a very good location, you know, might approach a 35,
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          2  $40,000 a year income, and I'd say maybe ten percent

          3  of the locations would fall into that category. You

          4  know, we're talking about, you know, a hot Times

          5  Square location.

          6                 Understand that the maximum size of a

          7  sidewalk newsstand is 72 square feet. The average

          8  size is 60 square feet, 65 square feet. The majority

          9  of the space must be devoted to printed material,

         10  which is what we're all about, on the one hand; on

         11  the other hand, it's the least profitable of

         12  everything you sell.

         13                 An operator makes on his gross

         14  profit, not his net, his gross profit on printed

         15  material is approximately 19 percent of the cover

         16  price of printed material. So, it's pennies per

         17  newspaper.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: I go to my

         19  newsstand on Grand Army Plaza all the time.

         20                 MR. BOOKMAN: That's a good one.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: That's a good

         22  one.

         23                 MR. BOOKMAN: That was my old

         24  newsstand, I lived in Park Slope for many years.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Oh, Park Slope,
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          2  that's outside of my district, but that doesn't

          3  influence my vote today.

          4                 MR. BOOKMAN: I don't live there

          5  anymore, it's all right.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: So I am

          7  sympathetic, and there's nothing like a newsstand

          8  open late at night time, I know.

          9                 But, now, just curious, you said in

         10  one area you can make a lot more; who determines the

         11  rent or the amount of the newsstand in one

         12  neighborhood, or do you do it based on real estate?

         13                 MR. BOOKMAN: No. The license fee for

         14  this category, as in every license category, as Mr.

         15  Eiler stated, is determined by State's statute and

         16  case law, which says that a locality cannot charge

         17  more than the course of administering the license

         18  divided by the number of licensees, as a license

         19  fee.

         20                 License fees are not revenue raising.

         21  The municipality has to break even on license fees.

         22  So, every sidewalk newsstand, just as every

         23  nightclub, for example, which is licensed by the

         24  City, is the same licenses fee, just as every

         25  parking lot does.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: I got that.

          3                 MR. BOOKMAN: All right.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: I'm ready.

          5                 MR. BOOKMAN: Now, so, the rent, if

          6  you will, is the license fee, and that's the same

          7  whether it's an A location or a C location.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: So it's the

          9  same.

         10                 MR. BOOKMAN: That's correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: So, if I have

         12  my newsstand right outside here on Broadway, or if I

         13  have my newsstand in Brooklyn some place --

         14                 MR. BOOKMAN: Brighton Beach,

         15  Brooklyn, you know, in a quiet street, it's the same

         16  license fee.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: So, is that

         18  based on seniority?

         19                 MR. BOOKMAN: No.

         20                 The traditional way for one to get a

         21  newsstand, to go into the newsstand business, is to

         22  find the location from a business perspective, that

         23  you think would be good, which would generally be

         24  from the operator's perspective, you know, the most

         25  congested location, but it then has to meet the
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          2  various -- after all, this is a First

          3  Amendment-related category, it has to meet time,

          4  place and manner restrictions that the municipality,

          5  that the City has adopted, and for this category,

          6  there are requirements in the newsstand law itself,

          7  in the Code, and 15 pages of rules and regulations

          8  governing distance and clearance from everything you

          9  can imagine, from a doorway to a parking meter, to

         10  the amount of pedestrian traffic.

         11                 Now, you file that application, and

         12  it goes through a number of agencies' reviews, from

         13  Highways, to Consumer Affairs, if it's in a

         14  landmarked district it goes to Landmarks, City

         15  Planning Commission is involved in setting the rules

         16  and regulations. If it meets, it goes to Community

         17  Board for comment, if it meets

         18  all of those rules and regulations, then the

         19  location is approved, then you have to go to the

         20  City's Art Commission where the design of the

         21  newsstand has to be approved. They also view their

         22  jurisdiction a little broadly, and they view that

         23  they have the right to more than just review the

         24  design, which is kind of esoteric, but they also

         25  decide whether the location is aesthetically
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          2  pleasing for a newsstand as well. And you can get

          3  rejected there, even if you bring in IM Pay

          4  (phonetic) to design the newsstand, because they

          5  could decide from an aesthetic perspective, for

          6  example, Fifth Avenue, let's say, that they think

          7  it's aesthetically not pleasing to have any

          8  newsstands on Fifth Avenue, big coincidence, so

          9  there are no newsstands on Fifth Avenue, even though

         10  you might meet all those time, place and manner

         11  restrictions.

         12                 But if you go through all of that,

         13  that's how you get a newsstand business.

         14                 Years and years ago, when kiosks

         15  first started to appear, like after World War 1,

         16  after World War 2, there were handicapped and

         17  veterans groups that were involved, and they in fact

         18  owned a lot of the structures, but they went out of

         19  the business basically of owning these structures in

         20  the 1960s, and gave them all to the various

         21  individuals who, you know, who were then veterans

         22  and handicapped. Those people over the decades have

         23  been getting older and retiring, thus the attrition

         24  in the number of newsstands, we only maintain a

         25  number by new applicants going through this process,
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          2  coming in and building new newsstands at new

          3  locations.

          4                 The reason why I say we're at a

          5  crisis, is because the number of applicants pending

          6  now is at an historic low, it's apparently less than

          7  two dozen.

          8                 Ninety percent of all applications

          9  get denied, by the way, because they don't meet all

         10  of those rules and regulations. So, we have very few

         11  people wanting to go into business, and not enough

         12  to make up for the attrition and the loss from the

         13  old timers.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Just my last

         15  comment, I would like to ask the -- not now, not

         16  you, but I wondered if I can ask one of the

         17  newsstand owners whether they think it's fair across

         18  the board on whether this person ends up having a

         19  newsstand at this location, as opposed to another

         20  location? And it's just if one of the newsstand

         21  owners testified, that's the question I would like

         22  to ask one of them. They might say it's based on

         23  some other reasons other than which you stated, but

         24  I thank you for your testimony.

         25                 MR. BOOKMAN: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I know Council

          3  Member Sanders has a question, and I wanted to just

          4  comment. This is very interesting, and I think

          5  provocative issue, if we think about it in terms of

          6  our communities, and there are communities that

          7  really want to have a newsstand because of perhaps

          8  what Council Member Davis said about being open late

          9  at night, and a lot of that are issues that are the

         10  broader issues that we are going to explore fairly

         11  soon, perhaps right after the Preliminary Budget

         12  hearings in this secondary piece about franchising,

         13  and so there will be an opportunity to have a lot

         14  more discussion about where they're placed, if

         15  they're closed, who owns them, all of these

         16  questions that I think are provocative, but in terms

         17  of today's hearing, this is really just about this

         18  component. That's the reason why we let the veto

         19  stand, because I thought there were a lot of issues

         20  we ought to be looking at.

         21                 Council Member Sanders.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you for

         23  that, those insights. My question to you, sir, is

         24  how do I get one of these hot locations, Grand Army

         25  Plaza, or --
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          2                 MR. BOOKMAN: Good luck. Good luck.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Or Fifth

          4  Avenue. Well, forget Fifth Avenue.

          5                 MR. BOOKMAN: Forget Fifth Avenue.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: How do these

          7  stands change ownership? Or as much as you can tell

          8  me.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: If you want to be

         10  succinct with that, Mr. Bookman, because we're right

         11  where we want to be with the franchise issue.

         12                 MR. BOOKMAN: I think that's right. I

         13  mean, it's complicated and it's very difficult to

         14  change ownerships, which is basically why you have

         15  an attrition.

         16                 Maybe husband to wife is easy, and

         17  sometimes, you know, father to child is simple, but

         18  once you get past, there's nobody in the family who

         19  wants to operate this newsstand anymore, it's

         20  virtually impossible to legally change ownership,

         21  and you lose that newsstand and therefore the number

         22  of newsstands go down.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: So, once you

         24  get one, you have it for life?

         25                 MR. BOOKMAN: As long as you comply
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          2  with the rules and regulations, correct. Like any

          3  license.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And Council Member

          5  Sanders, who owns them afterward, and how you can

          6  exchange them, how you can expand, it's precisely --

          7                 MR. BOOKMAN: Also a complicated

          8  issue.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: It's too

         10  complicated to try to bring people into an industry

         11  which I think we should.

         12                 Mr. Bookman, thank you for your

         13  testimony.

         14                 MR. BOOKMAN: Thank you.

         15                 I know you'll be hearing right after

         16  me from some of the circulation people from the

         17  newspapers. I know one couldn't be here, I believe

         18  the letter was forwarded to the Committee, Newsday

         19  couldn't be here today, but they also expressed

         20  interest in anything that could make newsstands more

         21  profitable and remain open, you know, the publishers

         22  would be happy to see.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And I'm sure that

         24  you would be happy if any of our colleagues here on

         25  this Committee or others want to talk with you
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          2  informally about some of these questions, so that

          3  you can formulate some of the larger issues when

          4  we're having the franchise hearing.

          5                 MR. BOOKMAN: Absolutely. Your able

          6  new counsel knows how to reach me and I'll be happy

          7  to come to any of your offices any time to have an

          8  honest discussion of, you know, the pros and cons of

          9  the problems with this industry.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         11  much, Mr. Bookman.

         12                 John Amann, from the New York Post,

         13  and also, while he's coming to the table, we have

         14  written testimony from Newsday in support of this

         15  bill, which we will have entered into the record,

         16  and I'll share it with any of my colleagues that

         17  want to briefly take a look at it.

         18                 Council Member Davis; do we have

         19  other copies of this? This is included in the

         20  record.

         21                 Mr. Bookman, or the gentleman behind

         22  you, more importantly, I would really very much

         23  appreciate if one of you would just come after this

         24  gentleman and testify. I think we would like to hear

         25  from one of you who actually are a vendor, even if
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          2  it's just to say amen, or whatever it is, to the

          3  bill, to act in an affirmative fashion.

          4                 MR. AMANN: Amann, that's my last

          5  name.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You caught it. I

          7  was wondering if anybody else was, but all right,

          8  thank you. I was waiting for Simcha, but he was slow

          9  on it today.

         10                 MR. AMANN: But he looked.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: He was sipping my

         12  water.

         13                 MR. AMANN: I'm Vice President of

         14  Circulation for the New York Post.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Yes.

         16                 MR. AMANN: I want to thank you for

         17  the opportunity to be here today. My testimony is

         18  going to be pretty straightforward, pretty short and

         19  sweet. But the newsstands today, the outdoor

         20  newsstands, about 304 or some odd newsstands, are

         21  indeed an important part of our distribution in the

         22  City. In fact, upwards of 20 percent of our daily

         23  circulation within the five boroughs predominantly

         24  in Manhattan is handled through these operators on a

         25  daily basis. I mean, from our perspective they're an
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          2  integral part of our business, and, you know, we'd

          3  like to think that they're really part of New York

          4  City history.

          5                 You know, the other point, and I

          6  don't know if this is an appropriate forum for it,

          7  but I've always had this thought, is that the

          8  newsstands, in my perspective, are almost like a

          9  safe beacon, because of the hours that they're

         10  there, and I can't help but wonder if they might not

         11  be kind of a suitable location for some kind of a,

         12  like a safety emergency device, the 911 or type of

         13  center. I mean, it just seems they're in usually

         14  high-traffic locations, keep long hours, you know,

         15  and might even have the residual effect of perhaps

         16  less false alarms, and those kinds of things, if

         17  they're near someone that is manned, near a building

         18  that's manned, rather than desolate on a corner. But

         19  that's basically it.

         20                 We think  the $5 is a very modest

         21  fee, although, you know, I guess we really need to

         22  get this approved, because going from two to five is

         23  I guess getting into the 21st century and I'm sure

         24  that Robert will be having more dialogue with you

         25  folks. I, too, would be available for any discussion
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          2  about the newsstands in the perspective of via

          3  newspaper and perhaps how they can be, we, the New

          4  York Post can be part of it, in terms of design or

          5  sponsorship or what have you. But it is something

          6  that we're very interested in. It is an integral

          7  piece of our business, and, you know, there are a

          8  lot of hard-working families that make it happen

          9  every day, very long hours, and I want to thank you

         10  very much and that's all I have to say.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. Any

         12  questions?

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 MR. AMANN: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I forgot we have a

         16  minister with us as well.

         17                 Mr. Zaveri. Welcome, sir.

         18                 Please have a seat, and if you push

         19  the button in so that the light is off, and just

         20  tell us your name and where your place of business

         21  is?

         22                 MR. ZAVERI: My name is Jiterdra

         23  Zaveri. I have a newsstand on 55 Water Street.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. And you

         25  have some testimony regarding this bill?
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          2                 MR. ZAVERI: We need this increase

          3  from our $2 to $5, as Councilman Sanders said, 7.50,

          4  that's the best, he's helped us a lot to grow a

          5  business, and we can stay in our business a longer

          6  time.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: How long have you

          8  been in the business, sir?

          9                 MR. ZAVERI: About 18 years.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Eighteen years?

         11                 MR. ZAVERI: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And does your

         13  family work with you?

         14                 MR. ZAVERI: Yes. And we put 14 hours

         15  a day in.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You're down on

         17  Water Street you said?

         18                 MR. ZAVERI: Water Street.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So, are you open on

         20  the weekends?

         21                 MR. ZAVERI: Saturday.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: On Saturday, I see.

         23                 Are there any questions from my

         24  colleagues?

         25                 No. Thank you very much.
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          2                 MR. ZAVERI: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Seeing no one else

          4  to testify, I want to call the question on Intro.

          5  28, I'm not accustomed to these short numbers, these

          6  two-digit numbers. When I joined here we were

          7  already in the 1100 category, so I always think they

          8  left something off.

          9                 But Mr. Clerk, would you call the

         10  roll, please.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Mr. Chair?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Yes, sir.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Is it too late

         14  to increase that number there? Is there any

         15  sentiment of the body? Is it too late? I don't want

         16  to mess with this legislation.

         17                 Actually, let me get the Chair's

         18  feeling on this. I will follow the Chair on this

         19  one.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, I'm glad you

         21  said you don't want to mess with the legislation,

         22  because we would have to amend the bill and we might

         23  want to then hear back from the Administration, so I

         24  think it would delay getting these gentlemen an

         25  opportunity to at least get that increase. But I
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          2  personally would be happy to entertain that

          3  discussion when we have the larger franchise

          4  discussion and find out from the Commissioner and

          5  the Administration how they feel about it.

          6                 So, thank you for asking that. I

          7  thought the same thing.

          8                 I don't know, but we can have that

          9  conversation as a part of that bill, and I'm looking

         10  to have that hearing in early April. I just know

         11  we're all very caught up with the committees that

         12  you're chairing and our budget hearings which are

         13  starting next week, and so I don't want to put too

         14  much on us to try to do that, but we will be looking

         15  to try to begin those hearings in early April, okay?

         16                 I'm just trying to get a little

         17  technical information here.

         18                 Would the clerk please call the roll

         19  on Intro. 28.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reed.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Aye.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Barron.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Aye.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: Davis.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Aye.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: Felder.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Aye.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Liu.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sanders.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of six in

          9  the affirmative, zero negative, and no abstentions,

         10  the item is adopted.

         11                 Please signed the report.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you, my

         13  colleagues. I promised you we would be out of here

         14  by 2:00 and we're seven minutes ahead of schedule,

         15  so I appreciate that.

         16                 Council Member Felder.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I want to make

         18  sure you keep your word, so I'll take the other

         19  seven minutes now.

         20                 No, unrelated to the item on hand,

         21  everything is good. I just want to ask the Chair if

         22  this is an opportunity for me to raise another

         23  issue, with permission, that is unrelated to the

         24  vote today?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Since your
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          2  colleagues have been told we would be out of here,

          3  you have six and a half minutes. Yes, sir.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I'm going to

          5  make it in 60 seconds.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I'm going to

          8  ask the Chair with some guidance with this.

          9                 Historically before Passover there

         10  are a problem with some merchants, supermarkets

         11  raising the prices for people who are having a

         12  difficult enough time dealing with whatever they

         13  have to pay all year round, so I don't know what the

         14  current commissioner, how she feels about it, what

         15  the Administration feels about it, but I would like

         16  to ask the Chair if there's something that we can do

         17  to urge them to do something about doing a survey of

         18  the prices, at least let the merchants know that

         19  somebody is on top of it, and I think the community,

         20  the City as a whole, certainly would appreciate it,

         21  I would appreciate it very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I think we all feel

         23  the same way. Council Member Felder and I will ask

         24  the staff to write the Chair, the Commissioner, a

         25  note about that, and the previous commissioners have
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          2  followed up on that.

          3                 We, as it so happens, are one of the

          4  very first committees that are beginning the budget

          5  process, so I think we're meeting on next Monday, a

          6  week from today, and I would certainly entertain a

          7  brief conversation with the Commissioner about that

          8  at that time, which I think gives us still a couple

          9  of weeks out to --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: We don't have

         11  much time. Passover is three weeks from this

         12  Wednesday evening.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay. Well, we will

         14  get a letter off to her, Mr. Szuchman, about that.

         15                 We will make sure that you all have

         16  copies of that, and that we will also ask her about

         17  it at those hearings.

         18                 Council Member Liu.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Chair. I just wanted to take a half a minute to

         21  thank everybody from the community for coming up to

         22  this hearing. I think it's very important.

         23                 What we do here in the City Council

         24  does affect people's lives, people's businesses,

         25  people's livelihoods, and the fact that you came
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          2  out, I think it's a huge step towards understanding

          3  what we can do in the democratic process here, in

          4  the country and in the City. And, you know, if there

          5  are things that you'd like the City to -- changes

          6  that you'd like the City to make, then this really

          7  is an excellent forum to see those changes happen.

          8                 So, I would certainly encourage you

          9  to come to more of these types of hearings, because

         10  they often do have an impact on your lives, and,

         11  again, advocate for any changes that you see fit.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Council Member

         13  Davis.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: I would like to

         15  complement the chair of this Committee, and also our

         16  esteemed colleagues, because they said that this

         17  fresh new City Council, things would not get done,

         18  that was what they said, but this is another example

         19  of how this Council, this new Council is going

         20  forward. In one of the testimonies they said that it

         21  never came up, never got a chance to get voted on,

         22  it was held up, whatever, and we're not knocking the

         23  past, we're certainly complementing the present, and

         24  the future, and let it go forth that this Council,

         25  we're going to get a lot more done, and we're
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          2  committed to the people of our great City, the City

          3  of New York.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. With

          5  that, I'd ask Dana, you stepped out and

          6  unfortunately there was a question raised about

          7  something different, if you could speak to our

          8  counsel and to Council Member Felder.

          9                 Unless there's any other remarks,

         10  this meeting is adjourned.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 (The following written testimony was

         13  read into the record.)

         14

         15  Written Testimony Of:

         16  Robert M. Brennan

         17  Vice President, Distribution

         18  Newsday

         19

         20

         21

         22  Newsday

         23  A Tribune Publishing Company.

         24  235 Pinelawn Road

         25  Melville, New York 11747
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          2  Tel: 631/843-2405

          3  Fax: 631/752-0757

          4  robert.brennan@newsday.com

          5

          6  Robert M. Brennan

          7  Vice President, Distribution

          8

          9  March 1, 2002

         10

         11

         12  The Honorable Councilman Phillip Reed

         13  Chairman, Consumer Affairs Committee

         14  250 Broadway

         15  New York, New York

         16

         17  Dear Councilman Reed:

         18

         19                 As Newsday stated last December and

         20  as we stand today, I am writing to let you know that

         21  Newsday fervently supports the new newsstand

         22  legislation before you.

         23                 The number of sidewalk newsstands in

         24  New York City has declined precipitously since the

         25  1950's when there were over 1,500. Today, there are
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          2  fewer than 300 and the number of applications

          3  pending at Consumer Affairs from individuals willing

          4  to build new newsstands also is at an historic low.

          5  Without some changes to the law, the number of

          6  newsstands undoubtedly will continue to decline.

          7                 A reduction in the number of

          8  newsstands harms both the public and the City.

          9  Newsstand sales represent a large percentage of

         10  single copy newspaper sales in New York City. The

         11  fewer the newsstands, the more difficult and time

         12  consuming it will be for consumers to obtain

         13  newspapers. An important and unique aspect of the

         14  City's culture also may fall away.

         15                 The newsstand before you will help

         16  reverse the alarming downward trend in sidewalk

         17  newsstand operators. It will help make newsstands

         18  somewhat more profitable by granting the operators

         19  their first raise in over twenty years, and it will

         20  give the operators the same rights to organize and

         21  operate their businesses that other vendors have

         22  enjoyed for years.

         23                 For these reasons, Newsday urges you

         24  to allow this legislation to become law.
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          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 Sincerely, Robert M. Brennan

          3

          4

          5  cc: Robert Bookman

          6      Dave Szuchman.

          7                 (Hearing concluded at 2:05 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 4th day of March 2002.
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                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3
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          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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                              CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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